RECEIVED

Feb 03 2026

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas

Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2024-CP-10-03732
Appellate Case No. 2025-000237

Joe Bryan,

Respondent,

v.

THI of South Carolina at Charleston, LLC
d/b/a Riverside Health and Rehab,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP
Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No. 66468)
D. Jay Davis Jr. (SC Bar No. 12084)
James D. Gandy III (SC Bar No. 11925)
T. Ashton Phillips III (SC Bar No. 104227)
Russell G. Hines (SC Bar No. 72100)
25 Calhoun Street, Suite 400
P.O. Box 993 (29402)
Charleston, South Carolina 29401

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in denying the Facility’s¹ motion to compel Mr. Bryan’s² claims to arbitration?³**
- A. Did the circuit court err in rejecting the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument? More specifically, should the circuit court have found (1) that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and (2) that, because Mr. Bryan effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, he is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith—and, thus, granted the Facility’s motion?**
- 1. Is the circuit court’s merger analysis erroneous?**
- (a) Did the circuit court err in relying on *Solesbee v. Fundamental Clinical and Operational Services, LLC*⁴—indeed, is the *Solesbee* Court’s merger analysis itself erroneous—and should *Solesbee* control the disposition of this case?**
- 2. Should the circuit court have found that equitable estoppel applies to prohibit Mr. Bryan from denying the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement?**
- 3. Did the circuit court err in stating that the Facility “had” Michael⁵ sign the Admission Agreement and/or the Arbitration Agreement?⁶**

¹ The “Facility” refers to Defendant/Appellant, THI of South Carolina at Charleston, LLC d/b/a Riverside Health and Rehab. It is a skilled nursing facility.

² “Mr. Bryan” refers to Plaintiff/Respondent, Joe Bryan.

³ To be clear, out of an abundance of caution, this issue and the corresponding argument includes not only the Facility’s challenge to the circuit court’s denial of its principal motion but also the Facility’s challenge to the circuit court’s denial of reconsideration with respect thereto.

⁴ 438 S.C. 638, 885 S.E.2d 144 (Ct. App. 2023).

⁵ “Michael” refers to Michael Bryan, Mr. Bryan’s son.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

With Michael’s help, Mr. Bryan was admitted as a resident of the Facility in June of 2021. (R. p. 84; R. pp. 85-96.) Michael handled the admissions paperwork and, in so doing, signed an Admission Agreement⁷ and an Arbitration Agreement⁸ on Mr. Bryan’s behalf.

Mr. Bryan commenced this action in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas on July 24, 2024, claiming the Facility is liable for deficient care/treatment he received during his residency. (R. pp. 11-17.) The Facility timely answered on August 22, 2024, denying liability, raising numerous affirmative defenses, and reserving the right to compel arbitration, which they also raised as an affirmative defense. (R. pp. 18-24.)

On August 30, 2024, the Facility moved to compel Mr. Bryan’s claims to arbitration based on the Arbitration Agreement Michael signed on behalf of Mr. Bryan in conjunction with his admission to the Facility (the “Motion to Compel Arbitration”). (R. pp. 47-48; R. pp. 56-96, 49.)⁹

⁶ This issue and the corresponding argument is raised out of an abundance of caution.

⁷ (R. p. 84; R. pp. 85-96.)

⁸ (R. p. 49.)

⁹ Without question, Mr. Bryan’s claims against the Facility are within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement, the plain language of which calls for arbitration of “any controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to [the] Facility’s Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to [Mr. Bryan’s] stay at [the] Facility, or to the provisions of care or

Following a hearing on November 13, 2024,¹⁰ the circuit court, the Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy presiding, denied the Motion to Compel Arbitration by order filed December 13, 2024. (R. pp. 1-7.) Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, on December 23, 2024, the Facility timely moved the circuit court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its decision. (R. pp. 97-120.) The circuit court denied that motion by order filed January 9, 2025. (R. pp. 8-10.)

By notice served and filed February 7, 2025, this appeal timely follows. (R. pp. 121-127.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court's determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). "Under de novo review, a circuit court's factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings." *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any

services to [Mr. Bryan]" (R. p. 49.) But even if there were "any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues[,] [they] should be resolved in favor of arbitration" *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 41, 524 S.E.2d 839, 846 (Ct. App. 1999); *see also Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001) ("[U]nless the court can say with positive assurance that the arbitration clause is not susceptible to an interpretation that covers the dispute, arbitration should be ordered.").

¹⁰ (R. pp. 25-46.)

particular deference to the circuit court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within circuit court's discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem'l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration.

- A. The circuit court erred in rejecting the Facility's merger/equitable estoppel argument. The circuit court should have found (1) that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and (2) that, because Mr. Bryan effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Mr. Bryan is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith—and, thus, granted the Motion to Compel Arbitration.**

The core question here is this: Is the Arbitration Agreement (which Michael signed for Mr. Bryan) enforceable against Mr. Bryan even though it was not signed by Mr. Bryan himself? The answer is yes. The Arbitration Agreement is enforceable against Mr. Bryan—or, more precisely, Mr. Bryan is estopped to deny that the Arbitration Agreement (and, for that matter, the Admission Agreement) is enforceable.

To be clear, the Facility's merger/equitable estoppel argument is a standalone argument. It does not depend on any showing of authority (actual or

apparent or otherwise) on the part of Michael or otherwise on the existence of any valid agreement per se. *See Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (“South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law, including . . . estoppel.”); *see also Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 354–55, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (acknowledging the possibility of enforcing an arbitration agreement against a nonsignatory via merger and equitable estoppel); *id.* (explaining that “Appellants’ equitable estoppel argument,” which “[wa]s premised on [Appellants’] contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged,” as follows: “Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] . . . , she is nevertheless *equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration agreement’s] enforceability.*”) (emphasis added).

Conceptually, the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument is *not* an argument *for the enforceability* of the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement *but rather* an argument *for Mr. Bryan to be estopped to deny the enforceability* of the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement. In short, the idea is that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and, having effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Mr. Bryan is now estopped to deny the enforceability of not only the

Admission Agreement but also the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith. And by its very nature, i.e., because the Facility’s argument in favor of direct benefits estoppel is based on the direct benefits Mr. Bryan received under the Admission Agreement (with which the Arbitration Agreement merged), this argument applies with equal force to estop Mr. Bryan from denying the enforceability of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith.

Accordingly, as to the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument, any contrary analysis regarding the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement’s supposed lack of validity—e.g., that Michael lacked authority to sign the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement on behalf of Mr. Bryan under the law of agency and/or under the South Carolina Adult Health Care Consent Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-66-10 to -80 (the “AHCCA”), and/or because Michael lacked power of attorney over Mr. Bryan—is beside the point and unavailing to refute the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument, which, again, turns not on the question of whether the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement is enforceable per se but whether Mr. Bryan is estopped to deny its enforceability.

1. The circuit court’s merger analysis is erroneous.

In *Coleman*, even though our Supreme Court found against merger on the particular *facts* of the case, it nonetheless confirmed the validity of the general

proposition of *law* on which the *Coleman* appellants based their merger/equitable estoppel argument:

Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] under the [AHCCA], she is nevertheless equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration agreement's] enforceability. The circuit court held there was no estoppel here, and we agree.

Appellants' equitable estoppel argument is premised on their contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged. In South Carolina,

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.

Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Dev. Corp., 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977).

Here, the documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. Unless there is a contrary intention, appellants are correct that there was a merger.

407 S.C. at 354–355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

Here, the circuit court erred in rejecting the Facility's merger argument, failing to recognize material differences between the facts and arguments involved in the instant case and those that controlled (or were simply not addressed in) *Coleman* and

its progeny *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016), *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018), and *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. 638, 885 S.E.2d 144.¹¹

The circuit court wrongly concluded that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement are separate contracts that do not merge. (R. pp. 5-6.) The merger question examines whether, “where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction,”¹² as undoubtedly the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement were here,¹³ there is evidence to upset the *presumption in favor of merger*, i.e., the presumption that the instruments were intended to be construed together as effectively one contract. This is a question of intention. *Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“in the absence of anything indicating a contrary *intention* . . .”) (emphasis added). And “in attempting to ascertain th[e] [parties’] intention,” our

¹¹ The circuit court’s erroneous reliance on *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. 638, 885 S.E.2d 144, is addressed separately below.

¹² *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

¹³ To be clear, *Coleman* confirms that the instant Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. As the *Coleman* Court expressly observed regarding the admission and arbitration agreements before it (which in *this* respect—but not in respect of the material facts bearing on the question of whether the presumption of merger is rebutted—are no different from the instant agreements), “the documents *were* executed at *the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction.*” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

courts “endeavor to determine the situation of the parties, as well as their purposes, at the time the contract was entered into.” *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 89, 232 S.E.2d at 25.

It must be remembered that, where, as here, the instruments in question were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, merger is *presumed*. For the merger presumption to mean anything in practice it cannot be upset based on mere conjecture, but only by actual evidence that—notwithstanding the concurrence of all the particular circumstances necessary for the presumption to even arise in the first place (same time, parties, purpose, and transaction)—can nonetheless support a reasonable, non-speculative inference that the parties’ intention was contrary to merger. *Cf. The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 188, 617 S.E.2d 126, 130 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[V]erdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”). No such inference can be drawn here. Indeed, under the circumstances, the very idea that there would have been an intention contrary to merger does not make sense.

Unlike the arbitration agreements at issue in *Coleman*, *Thompson*, and *Hodge*, all of which contained a provision allowing them to be disclaimed or revoked within 30 days of signing while the corresponding admission agreements did not, the instant Arbitration Agreement has no disclaimer/revocation provision. (R. p. 49.) Moreover, while the instant Admission Agreement does contain an

“Entire Agreement” clause, it does not reference the Arbitration Agreement as a separate contract. (R. p. 84; R. p. 96.) Indeed, directly contradicting the idea of “separatedness” (in the parlance of the *Coleman* Court¹⁴), the “Entire Agreement” clause in the instant Admission Agreement expressly states that “other Admissions materials” are part of the Admission Agreement, thereby expressly disclaiming any “separatedness.” (R. p. 84; R. p. 96.) Without question, the plain and ordinary meaning of the language “other Admissions materials” is such as to embrace the Arbitration Agreement. *See Stott v. White Oak Manor, Inc.*, 426 S.C. 568, 571–72, 828 S.E.2d 82, 84 (Ct. App. 2019) (“The same day as Decedent’s admission to White Oak, Stott, acting as Decedent’s authorized representative, signed White Oak’s admission documentation—including the *Arbitration Agreement*.”) (emphasis added) (internal footnote omitted); *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 550, 813 S.E.2d at 295 (“Her husband . . . executed various documents *related to her admission, including an *Arbitration Agreement* and an *Admission Agreement*.*”) (emphasis added)).¹⁵ And any notion that there is ambiguity in this regard is unsupported and erroneous.

¹⁴ 407 S.C. at 356, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (explaining how, in *Coleman*—unlike the instant case—the “Entire Agreement” clause expressly referred to a separate arbitration agreement and, thus, “recognize[d] the ‘*separatedness*’ of the [arbitration agreement] and the admission agreement, not a merger of the two contracts.”) (emphasis added).

¹⁵ To be clear, the Facility’s point here is not that the holding of either *Stott* or *Hodge* established a legal standard for what counts as admissions

To be sure, the Arbitration Agreement was optional, i.e., agreeing to arbitration was not required as a precondition of Mr. Bryan’s residency at the Facility. But this just means that the Arbitration Agreement did not have to be executed at all. It does not mean that the Arbitration Agreement did not become part of the admissions materials once it was in fact executed. Indeed, the fact that the Arbitration Agreement was not required for admission underscores its *connectedness* to the Admission Agreement. The two go together hand in glove. Without the hand (the Admission Agreement), there is no reason for the glove (the Arbitration Agreement).

Moreover, while it is true that the Arbitration Agreement is not necessary to the Admission Agreement, the converse is not true: The Admission Agreement *is*

paperwork, but rather that the very fact that the language that the *Stott* and *Hodge* Courts used in discussing the facts of the cases so readily made the natural and logical connection between arbitration agreements signed in conjunction with admission and “admission documentation” / “documents related to . . . admission” that it illustrates that, in its plain, ordinary, and popular sense, “Admissions materials” includes the Arbitration Agreement. *See Beaufort Cnty. Sch. Dist. v. United Nat’l Ins. Co.*, 392 S.C. 506, 516, 709 S.E.2d 85, 90 (Ct. App. 2011) (“If the contract’s language is clear and unambiguous, the language alone, understood in its plain, ordinary, and popular sense, determines the contract’s force and effect.”). Moreover, this connection between the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement (with the Arbitration Agreement being understood in the plain, ordinary, and popular sense as included in the term “Admissions materials”) is underscored by the *Coleman* Court’s recognition that an admission agreement and arbitration agreement signed in conjunction with resident’s admission to a nursing facility are indeed “executed at the same time, by the same parties, *for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction.*” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

necessary to the Arbitration Agreement. That is, the Admission Agreement *could* have stood on its own, i.e., without the Arbitration Agreement ever having been executed, in which case no question of merger would have even arisen to begin with—but that is not what happened. The Arbitration Agreement was in fact executed, and it was executed under the particular circumstances that give rise to the presumption of merger—same time, parties, purpose, and transaction—but unlike the Admission Agreement, which is capable of making sense either standing alone or together with the Arbitration Agreement, *the Arbitration Agreement only makes sense together with the Admission Agreement*, which is its (the Arbitration Agreement’s) sole reason for being. (R. p. 49 (providing for arbitration of “any controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to [the] Facility’s Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to [Mr. Bryan’s] stay at [the] Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to [Mr. Bryan]”); R. p. 49 (“This [Arbitration] Agreement shall remain in effect for all care rendered at [the] Facility”).)

Even though the Arbitration Agreement was not a *condition* of admission, it was agreed to in *conjunction* with admission, whereupon it was intended to be considered and construed together with the Admission Agreement, such that the two were effectively one instrument governing various interrelated aspects of Mr. Bryan’s relationship with the Facility, the Admission Agreement setting forth the

terms of his admission, the Arbitration Agreement providing for arbitration of disputes arising out of his admission. (*Compare* R. p. 85 (setting forth the terms of Mr. Bryan’s admission to the Facility) *with* R. p. 49 (providing for arbitration of disputes arising out of Mr. Bryan’s admission to the Facility).)

Also absent here is the type of discrepancy the *Hodge* Court pointed out with respect to the respective provisions of the admission and arbitration agreements before it as to the governing law. 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302. (*Compare* R. p. 94 (“This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with applicable Federal regulations and those laws of the State in which Facility is located.”) *with* R. p. 49 (providing that, “because the services and reimbursement thereof effect a transaction involving interstate commerce, the enforcement of this Arbitration Agreement . . . shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Action,” but also providing that arbitration shall be “as provided by the South Carolina Alternate Dispute Resolution/Mediation Rules”).) Essentially, both instruments provide that South Carolina law applies except where displaced by federal law. This provides no reasonable inference of an intent contrary to merger.

Similarly, the survival of the Arbitration Agreement is no evidence of “separatedness.” Again, the only reason for the Arbitration Agreement is the Admission Agreement, as the point of the Arbitration Agreement is to cover disputes relating to/arising out of the Admission Agreement. So, yes, the

Arbitration Agreement would remain in effect after termination of the Admission Agreement, but all this means is that any claims relating to/arising out of the Admission Agreement would still have to be arbitrated even if they are not asserted until after termination of the Admission Agreement. In other words, the Arbitration Agreement is still connected to the Admission Agreement even after the termination of the Admission Agreement. This is simply how arbitration agreements work. *See Hooters of America, Inc. v. Phillips*, 39 F. Supp. 2d 582, 612–13 (D.S.C. 1998) (“Under South Carolina arbitration law, the duty to arbitrate under an arbitration clause in a contract survives termination of the contract.”).

The fact that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement have their own titles, are separately paginated, and are separately signed provides no reasonable inference of an intention contrary to merger. Respectfully, to point to such things is really to do no more than to point out that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement are separate instruments, a fact which does not actually suggest anything probative about whether they are intended to be construed together. Indeed, the question of merger will not arise in the first place unless there are multiple instruments involved. Obviously, it cannot be the case that the mere existence of the necessary factual predicate for the question of merger to arise, i.e., separate instruments, shows an intention contrary to merger. The very nature of *merger* is to *merge* separate documents.

And—besides the fact that there is indeed no ambiguity in regard to the merger of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement—to fall back on the idea that any ambiguity in this regard must be construed against the Facility as the drafter makes no sense in this context. It must be remembered that *merger is the default position*, i.e., it is presumed, and that this presumption arises only upon the occurrence of a specific set of circumstances, those being, as stated in the above-quoted passage from *Coleman*, where, as here, the instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction. When all these align—same time, same parties, same purpose, same transaction—our courts will consider and construe the documents together *unless* there is evidence of a contrary intention.

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