THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Nov 10 2025

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000237

Joe Bryan,

Respondent,

v.

THI of South Carolina at Charleston, LLC d/b/a
Riverside Health and Rehab,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

CLAWSON FARGNOLI UTSEY, LLC

Samuel R. Clawson, Jr. (SC# 76065)
Christy R. Fagnoli (SC# 77528)
Bert G. Utsey, III (SC# 10093)
Laura Wilkes-D'Amato (SC# 104294)
The Presqu'ile House
2 Amherst Street
Charleston, South Carolina 29403
843.970.2700

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The Court should affirm the Circuit Court’s December 13, 2024 and January 9, 2025 Orders (the “Orders”). This Court has already held that arbitration and admission agreements identical to the ones at issue here do not merge. This Court has also found that a nonsigner of these same agreements cannot be estopped from denying the validity of the arbitration agreement.

The Orders do not contain any legal errors and their factual conclusions are supported by the evidence in the record. This Court should re-affirm what it and the South Carolina Supreme Court have already conclusively determined on at least twenty (20) occasions since April 2022¹ and deny the instant Appeal.

¹ See *Estate of Richard Ladson v. THI of S.C. at Charleston*, 2022 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 200, cert. denied, 2023 S.C. Unpub. LEXIS 31; *Estate of Solesbee v. Fundamental Clinical and Operational Services*, 438 S.C. 638, 885 S.E.2d 144, cert. denied (Apr. 16, 2024); *Nanney v. THI of S.C. at Spartanburg*, 2023 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 350, cert. denied, 2024 S.C. Unpub. LEXIS 99; *Daniels v. THI of South Carolina at Columbia*, 2022 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 392, cert. denied, 2023 S.C. Unpub. LEXIS 62; *Estate of Owens v. Fundamental Clinical & Operational Servs.*, 2023 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 321, cert. denied, 2024 S.C. Unpub. LEXIS 30; *Greene v. Palmetto Prince George Operating*, 2023 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 457, cert. denied, 2024 S.C. Unpub. LEXIS 123; *Tisdale v. Palmetto Lake City Operating*, 2024 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 3, cert. denied, 2024 S.C. Unpub. LEXIS 119; *Walker v. Hallmark Longterm Care*, 2023 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 461, cert. denied, 2024 S.C. Unpub. LEXIS 124; *White v. St. Matthews Healthcare*, 2023 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 454, cert. denied, 2024 S.C. Unpub. LEXIS 128; *Dawkins v. Clinical*, 2023 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 462, cert. denied, 2024 S.C. Unpub. LEXIS 118; *Stroud v. THI of South Carolina at Greenville*, 2024 S.C. App. Unpub 084, cert. denied (Oct. 30, 2024); *Pace v. Lake Emory Post Acute Care*, 2024 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 263, cert. denied, 2025 S.C. Unpub. LEXIS 42; *Rahn v. Priority Home Care*, 2023 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 453, cert. denied, 2024 S.C. Unpub. LEXIS 122; *China v. Palmetto Hallmark Operating*, 2023 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 459, cert. denied, 2024 S.C. Unpub. LEXIS 129; *Lovett v. Fundamental Clinical and Operational Servs*, 2024 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 85, cert. denied, 2024 S.C. Unpub. LEXIS 126; *Washington v. St. George Health Care*, 2024 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 322, cert. denied, 2025 S.C. Unpub. LEXIS 55; *McCarson v. THI of S.C. at Magnolia Manor-Inman*, 2024 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 320, cert. denied, 2025 S.C. Unpub. LEXIS 57; *Hutley v. THI of S.C. at Magnolia Manor Inman*, 2024 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 396, cert. denied 2025 S.C. Unpub. LEXIS 81; *Hagood v. Palmetto Faith Operating*, 2024 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 390, cert. denied, 2025 Unpub. LEXIS 74. Also, at present, Appellant has at least eight appeals pending before this Court on identical issues.

I. The Circuit Court did not Err in Rejecting Appellant’s Merger/Equitable Estoppel Argument.

“[B]ecause arbitration, while favored, exists solely by agreement of the parties, a presumption against arbitration arises where the party resisting arbitration is a nonsignatory to the written agreement to arbitrate.” *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 337-338, 827 S.E.2d at 173.

Appellant’s Initial Brief is largely premised on the Circuit Court’s supposed reliance on *Solesbee*, despite the fact that that case was not mentioned in the Orders or during the hearing on Appellant’s Motion to Compel.² In *Solesbee*, this Court affirmed the five common law theories for binding a nonsignatory to an arbitration agreement, as set forth in *Malloy v. Thompson*, (409 S.C. 557, 762 S.E.2d 690 (2014) – a case that **was** cited by the Circuit Court in its December 13 Order. (R. p. __; Dec. 13, 2024 Order, p. __). Those five theories are as follows: incorporation by reference, assumption, agency, veil piercing/alter ego, and estoppel. *Id.* at 561-562, 762 S.E.2d at 692; *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. at 647, 885 S.E.2d at 148.

In its December 13 Order, the Circuit Court correctly held that the incorporation by reference, assumption, and veil piercing/alter ego theories did not apply in this case. (R. p. __; Dec. 13, 2024 Order, p. 4). It also held that there was no express or implied agency between Mr. Bryan and Michael, noting that even if Michael had apparent authority to make health care decisions for Mr. Bryna, that authority would not extend to the ability to enter into an arbitration agreement under the ruling in *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016). Appellant does not raise any arguments regarding agency in this appeal. Thus, the only remaining argument on which the Facility can prevail is estoppel.

As outlined in *Solesbee*, a nonsignatory like Mr. Bryan may be estopped from denying the

² Pages 7-31 of the Facility’s Initial Brief appear to be substantially identical to pages 4-19 and 19-23 of its Motion for Reconsideration.

validity of an arbitration agreement when he receives a direct benefit from a contract containing an arbitration clause. *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. at 647, 885 S.E.2d at 148. In this case, the Agreement was not a clause within the admissions agreement, and Mr. Bryan has certainly not received any direct benefits from the Agreement. The Facility is thus forced to argue that, upon Michael's execution of the agreements, they merged, becoming a single contract, and that Mr. Bryan benefitted from the terms of the admissions agreement. While it is doubtful that Mr. Bryan benefitted from his admission to the Facility given his negligent treatment there, it is clear that, even if he had benefitted from his admission, the agreements should not merge.

a. The Circuit Court correctly concluded that the Arbitration Agreement and Admission Agreement did not merge.

The language and formatting of the agreements at issue support the conclusion that they were intended to be separate documents, creating at a minimum an ambiguity regarding merger that must be construed against the Facility.

“The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.” *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care*, 407 S.C. 346, 355, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014). Ambiguity as to merger must be construed against the drafter – here, the Facility. *Id.*

However, as noted in the Court's December 13 Order, the courts in both *Coleman* and *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E. 2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018), outlined several relevant factors for determining merger in the context of admission agreements and purported arbitration agreements – and those factors weigh heavily against merger in the present case. The factors include (1) whether the two agreements are governed by separate bodies

of law, (2) whether the language of the agreements recognizes the two agreements as separate, (3) whether the agreements contain different terms regarding revocation and termination, (4) whether the agreements are separately paginated and have their own signature pages, and (5) whether both agreements are required for the execution of the other, or whether one agreement is optional. *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 562-64, 813 S.E. 2d at 302-303. As one may expect given the successive appeals filed by this Appellant in similar circumstances, this Court has already analyzed the exact same form agreements at issue here – and found that they do not merge.

That analysis occurred in the *Solesbee* case. First, as in *Solesbee*, the admission agreement and other admission paperwork here indicate they are governed by South Carolina law, while the Agreement states it is governed by the FAA. Because the agreements are not governed by the same bodies of law, the first factor weighs against Appellant.

Second, as in *Solesbee*, the Agreement also contains a separate reference to the admission agreement. In *Solesbee*, the Court held that such a reference “recognized the two documents were separate, stating the Arbitration Agreement ‘shall survive any termination or breach of this Agreement or the Admission Agreement.’” *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. at 648-49, 885 S.E.2d at 149. Therefore, the Facility’s argument regarding the second factor also fails.

Third, as this Court acknowledged in *Solesbee*, the Agreement contains no language indicating that it may be revoked or terminated, but the admission agreement provides that a resident may terminate the admission agreement at any time. *Id.* at 649, 885 S.E.2d at 149.

Fourth, the Agreement has its own signature line. This indicates the drafter’s intent for the Agreement to stand by itself as an independent contract. *See Thompson*, 416 S.C. at 53 n.1, 784 S.E.2d at 685 n.1.

As to the fifth factor, the Court in *Solesbee* found that the Agreement is optional and

voluntary, while the admission agreement is required for admission. *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. at 649, 885 S.E.2d at 149. The Facility does not dispute in this case that the Agreement is voluntary and optional.

Based on these factors, the Circuit Court correctly concluded that the admissions agreement, other admission paperwork, and the Agreement did not merge.

b. Even if the Agreements merged, Respondent is not estopped from denying the validity of the Arbitration Agreement.

Because there was no merger between the agreements, Plaintiff is not estopped from asserting that the lack of his signature precludes enforcement of the Agreement. This same rationale extends to any potential claim of equitable estoppel. *See Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302 (equitable estoppel arguments are also “premised on the[] contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the arbitration agreements merged”).

Assuming *arguendo* that the agreements did merge, however, the Facility cannot satisfy the requisite elements of the applicable test – the direct benefits test. Direct benefits estoppel precludes a nonsignatory from denying the validity of an arbitration provision of a contract if “(1) the nonsigner’s claim arises from the contractual relationship, (2) the nonsigner has ‘exploited’ other parts of the contract by reaping its benefits, and (3) the claim relies solely on the contract terms to impose liability.” *Weaver*, 431 S.C. at 230, 847 S.E.2d at 272.

The Facility asserts that because Mr. Bryan received benefits from the admission agreement, he is estopped from denying the validity of the Agreement. The Facility’s argument ignores the fact that Mr. Bryan is not asserting a breach of contract claim; he brought the underlying suit to recover under a negligence theory, arising from common law duties. He is claiming that the Facility breached a duty owed by all healthcare providers, outside of any contractual agreements, to comply with the applicable standard of care. This claim does not rely

on any provision in the agreements, it relies on common law tort duties. Therefore, Mr. Bryan cannot be estopped from denying the validity of the Agreement based on the application of the direct benefits test.

For these reasons, the Court should affirm the Circuit Court's finding that, because there was no merger between the two agreements, Plaintiff is not estopped from asserting that the lack of his signature precludes enforcement of the Agreement.

- c. **The Circuit Court did not err in stating that the Appellant's facility "had" Respondent's son sign the admission agreement and the Agreement. To the extent this word choice was an error, it was a harmless error that should be disregarded under SCRPC Rule 61.**

While recognizing "the [C]ircuit [C]ourt did not actually state that this is material to its reasoning," the Facility raises an argument that "out of an abundance of caution, to the extent that it might potentially be prejudicial to the Facility," the Circuit Court erred in its inclusion of a single word in two sentences in its December 13, 2024 Order. (Appellant's Init. Br., p. 32). Specifically, the Facility objects to the phrase that Facility employees "had" Michael sign the admissions paperwork for his father. The Facility reads this phrase as an implication that Michael was forced to sign the Agreement against his will as a required condition of Mr. Bryan's admission to the Facility. As noted above, the Agreement is (technically) optional, so that could not have been the Circuit Court's intent. However, the Facility has failed to demonstrate it is prejudiced by the Circuit Court's word choice. To the extent the Circuit Court may have erred by using the phrase at issue, it was harmless error that does not affect the substantial rights of the Facility. This Court should disregard this issue pursuant to Rule 61 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should affirm the Circuit Court's Orders denying Appellant's Motion to Compel Arbitration.